          1

          2  CITY COUNCIL

          3

             CITY OF NEW YORK

          4

             -------------------------------x

          5

             THE TRANSCRIPT OF THE MINUTES

          6

                       of the

          7

             COMMITTEE ON FIRE And CRIMINAL

          8  JUSTICE SERVICES

          9  -------------------------------x

         10

                            June 23, 2004

         11                 Start:  10:30 a.m.

                            Recess: 12:10 p.m.

         12

                            City Hall

         13                 250 Broadway, 14th Floor

                            New York, New York

         14

         15       B E F O R E:

         16              YVETTE CLARKE

                                           Chairperson,

         17

         18              COUNCIL MEMBERS:   Tracy Boyland

                                            Tony Avella

         19                                 Alan Gerson

                                            Hiram Monserrate

         20                                 David Yassky

         21

         22

         23

         24       LEGAL-EASE COURT REPORTING SERVICES, INC.

                         17 Battery Place -  Suite 1308

         25              New York, New York 10004

                              (800) 756-3410

                                                            2

          1

          2  A P P E A R A N C E S

          3

             Alan Vengersky

          4  Assistant Commissioner of Personnel

             NYC Department of Correction

          5

             Ison Patterson, Jr.

          6

             Frances Rosato

          7

             Nicholas A. Kaiser, Esq.

          8

             Edward J. Gavin

          9

             Anthony Miranda

         10  National Latino Officers Association

         11  Sidney Schwartzbaum

             President

         12  Assistant Deputy Wardens

             Deputy Wardens Association

         13

         14

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

         25

                                                            3

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Good morning, and

          3  welcome to this hearing on Fire and Criminal Justice

          4  Services.

          5                 I am Council Member Yvette Clarke,

          6  Chair of the Committee, and today we will be

          7  considering the promotional policy at the Department

          8  of Correction.

          9                 In addition, we will be voting on two

         10  of the amendments to the Fire Code, Intro. 247 and

         11  Intro. 248.

         12                 The Department of Correction has been

         13  no stranger to controversy when it comes to its

         14  promotion and demotion practices.

         15                 The case that comes most readily to

         16  mind for most people is that of Anthony Serra,

         17  former Chief of Department who was indicted in 2003

         18  for improperly using agency personnel.

         19                 Mr. Serra was promoted in 1997 to the

         20  position of Deputy Warden, despite facing

         21  Departmental charges of lying regarding an incident

         22  of use of force.

         23                 In an exceptionally short period of

         24  time, he was elevated through the ranks to

         25  ultimately become the to uniformed officer in the
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          2  Department, and ascendancy that unions attribute to

          3  his ties to the Republican party.

          4                 In several other cases, the

          5  Department lost or settled suits by correction

          6  employees alleging they were demoted or brought up

          7  on charges because of favoritism.

          8                 In one such case the Administrative

          9  Law Judge cited gross abuse of power at the

         10  Department.

         11                 The effects of all these incidents,

         12  and I stress, we're talking about multiple cases,

         13  not just one isolated incident, is to give the

         14  impression that promotions and demotions at the

         15  Department of Correction have not been determined by

         16  job performance but by relation with those on top.

         17                 I would also like to stress that we

         18  are talking about past factors.

         19                 I have heard no such complaints about

         20  promotions under Commissioner Horn, and I know, and

         21  knowing him as I do, I'm sure his promotional

         22  decisions have only increased excellence at the

         23  Department.

         24                 But we're not just talking about

         25  Commissioner horn. If a few years he will likely be
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          2  gone and I will be gone. What we're talking about is

          3  a system where promotional discretion has too often

          4  been used to decrease excellence.

          5                 Commissioner Horn's solution is

          6  Directive 2226, which introduces some objectivity to

          7  the promotion process by giving candidates a

          8  numerical score based on performance across several

          9  criteria.

         10                 While a step in the right direction,

         11  directive 2226 is after all just a directive and can

         12  simply be revoked by the next Commissioner.

         13                 What I would like to hear from the

         14  Department today is its suggestion on how to

         15  permanently address these problems.

         16                 In addition to the oversight portion

         17  of this hearing, we will be voting on Intro. 247 and

         18  Intro. 248.

         19                 Intro. 248 updates regulations on the

         20  storage and transportation of flammable and

         21  combustable materials. It also responds to

         22  recommendations of the US chemical safety and hazard

         23  investigation board, following the 2002 chemical

         24  fire at Caltech Industries in Chelsea.

         25                 These changes include requirements
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          2  for separation of incompatible materials,

          3  identification of container contents and worker

          4  training.

          5                 Intro. 247 overhauls the Fire Code

          6  regulation of commercial refrigeration systems, and

          7  has the support, strong support of the industry.

          8                 New flammable refrigerants are not

          9  directly addressed in the Fire Code. As a result,

         10  industry can only use these refrigerants with a

         11  variance, which is inexpensive and time-consuming.

         12                 The bill also deletes installation

         13  requirements, which are now regulated by the

         14  Building Code.

         15                 I strong support both of these bills,

         16  which will be voted on following the testimony of

         17  the Department of Corrections, on the oversight

         18  portion of this hearing, and I urge my colleagues to

         19  also lend their support.

         20                 I'd like to acknowledge that we are

         21  joined here by Council Member Tony Avella of the

         22  Committee and from Queens. And I would also like to,

         23  unfortunately with sad, but glad, tidings, wish

         24  Michelle Kalifer, my Policy Analyst, continued

         25  success. She'll be leaving us, this will be her last
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          2  hearing with the Committee, and she's done

          3  extraordinary work on behalf of the people of the

          4  City of New York, and I wanted to state that before

          5  we go forward with this hearing.

          6                 Thank you so much.

          7                 At this time I'd like to call Alan

          8  Vengersky, of the Department of Correction, to give

          9  his testimony at this time.

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER VENGERSKY:

         11  Good morning, Chair Clarke, and members of the Fire

         12  and Criminal Justice Committee.

         13                 I am Alan Vengersky, Assistant

         14  Commissioner of the New York City Department of

         15  Correction. I'm here to --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I'm sorry, you

         17  have to turn on your microphone.

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER VENGERSKY:

         19  Okay.

         20                 And I'm here to describe our

         21  reassignment level --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Can you restate

         23  your name for the record.

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER VENGERSKY:

         25  Alan Vengersky, Assistant Commissioner of Personnel,
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          2  for the New York City Department of Correction. I'm

          3  here to describe our reassignment level selection

          4  procedure for Warden Correction Level 2.

          5                 But, first, let me begin by

          6  clarifying what the topic of our discussion is

          7  today.

          8                 We know that you're interested in

          9  discussing the process by which someone has moved

         10  from the assignment of Assistant Deputy Warden to

         11  Deputy Warden.

         12                 But although this hearing is titled

         13  promotional policies, we actually aren't talking

         14  about promotions. Assistant Deputy Warden and Deputy

         15  Warden, as well as Warden, Assistant Chief, Bureau

         16  Chief and Chief of Department are all just in-house

         17  titles, within one classified title and that is

         18  Warden Correction.

         19                 The way this works is, the Captains

         20  take a Civil Service exam to be promoted to Warden

         21  Correction. During their career they will be

         22  assigned to one of four levels varying in scope of

         23  responsibility, accountability and compensation. But

         24  they will still hold the same title of Warden

         25  Correction.
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          2                 Movements within the title are simply

          3  discretionary changes in assignment level, not

          4  promotions or demotion, and this is what we know is

          5  the broadbanding of the title.

          6                 And I would like to emphasize that

          7  the courts have looked at this issue extensively and

          8  have upheld the Department's use of broadbanding for

          9  this title.

         10                 The courts have agreed that the

         11  Commissioner must retain the flexibility to change

         12  assignments within the Warden title in a manner he

         13  deems essential for carrying out the mission

         14  entrusted to them.

         15                 Our goal in developing a process for

         16  making discretionary assignments to level 2 of the

         17  Warden Correction title is to create a procedure

         18  that is objective, transparent and explicit.

         19                 Keep in mind, though, that each

         20  candidate for reassignment was already competitively

         21  tested and appointed to the Warden title.

         22                 In consultation with the Assistant

         23  Deputy Warden, Deputy Wardens Association, we

         24  created a narrowing process which relies on five

         25  criteria deemed indicative of quality past
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          2  performance and is a reasonable predictor of future

          3  success and these criteria are oral presentation

          4  skills, performance appraisal, attained educational

          5  level, seniority and current rank and attendance

          6  over a five-year period, and each of these five

          7  criteria are assigned weights: The oral presentation

          8  a weight of seven; the performance appraisal a

          9  weight of five; education a weight of three;

         10  seniority a weight of three; and attendance a weight

         11  of two; for a total of 20. The weights total 20. And

         12  then each of the five criteria is assigned points

         13  along an eight-point scale reflecting different

         14  levels of attainment for each candidate.

         15                 The points assigned for each scale,

         16  associated with the level of attainment for each

         17  applicant, are multiplied by the assigned weight of

         18  each scale.

         19                 The oral presentation criterion is

         20  assessed by a panel which reviews candidates'

         21  responses to three in-basket exercises.

         22                 Subsequent to the oral presentation,

         23  the personnel division scores each candidate's

         24  attainment on that criterion, as well as each of the

         25  other four, and rank ordered each candidate by their

                                                            11

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  final score.

          3                 The applicant in the highest scales

          4  are then interviewed by the Chief of Department, and

          5  then based upon the projected number of vacancies,

          6  over a six-month period, the chief then forwards his

          7  selections to the Commissioner for the

          8  Commissioner's review.

          9                 The Commissioner then selects

         10  applicants for reassignment for existing vacancies

         11  and reserves his remaining selections for

         12  perspective vacancies over the ensuing six months.

         13                 This procedure has recently been

         14  conducted for the first time with 39 applicants, 22

         15  being interviewed by the Chief, 15 forwarded by the

         16  Chief to the Commissioner, who ultimately selected

         17  eight for reassignment. Some of the balance

         18  interviewed by the Commissioner will fill respective

         19  vacancies through October of 2004.

         20                 In November of 2004, the process will

         21  be repeated to permit new applicants to compete. In

         22  the current round we had only 39 of 96 possible

         23  candidates competing.

         24                 So, in summary, those considered for

         25  reassignment enjoyed the benefit of a rigorous
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          2  reassignment selection procedure featuring an oral

          3  presentation, and for the highest ranked candidates,

          4  two ensuing sets of interviews with the Chief of

          5  Department and the Commissioner.

          6                 In addition, their performance,

          7  education, seniority and attendance were each

          8  factored into their relative ranking.

          9                 Beginning with the broad-banding

         10  resolution of 1979, DOC, through 15 commissioners,

         11  has relied on a variety of selection procedures,

         12  which were workable in varying degrees.

         13                 Our new procedure retained the best

         14  of these past selection methods, and was

         15  exceptionally well received by the candidates,

         16  senior and executive staff, and its initial

         17  execution.

         18                 However, we're already reviewing

         19  modifications which heightened the process

         20  prospectively in November '04 for its second

         21  application. And we're confident that the best

         22  candidates have and will emerge from our new

         23  reassignment process.

         24                 I'll be happy to answer any questions

         25  you may have.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you very

          3  much. The first thing I'd like to get a sense of

          4  from you is whether there are any departmental rules

          5  regarding promotion of candidates facing

          6  disciplinary or criminal charges?

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER VENGERSKY:

          8  Well, candidates who have disciplinary charges are

          9  going to be eliminated from the process for the

         10  period of pendency of their charges.

         11                 That is something that we have

         12  decided to adopt, yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Is that part of

         14  the directive that --

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER VENGERSKY:

         16  Yes, I believe it's mentioned in the directive. The

         17  Personnel Division reviews the records of the

         18  candidates competing and won't forward the names of

         19  candidates to the Chief if that particular candidate

         20  has any kind of a charge pending.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay, another

         22  concern I have about, and just using Anthony Serra

         23  as the -- I guess it's the model, it's how he was

         24  promoted so quickly to many top brass positions.

         25                 Between January of 1988, when he was
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          2  first promoted to Deputy Warden, to the beginning of

          3  2003 when he was indicted with 89 criminal counts,

          4  he had risen to Deputy Warden in Command, then

          5  Warden, then Assistant Chief and then finally Bureau

          6  Chief.

          7                 Did all of those promotions in such a

          8  short period of time violate any promotional rules

          9  of the Department?

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER VENGERSKY: Not

         11  the promotional rules in place at the time.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: And does the

         13  Department have any requirement that a person serve

         14  a minimum amount of time in lower title before

         15  receiving a promotion to the next title?

         16                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER VENGERSKY:

         17  Well, for reassignment to level two, one would have

         18  had to have served for, I believe it's passed

         19  probation and serve at least two years as a Warden

         20  Correction at the level, at the first level.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Is that part of

         22  the directive as well?

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER VENGERSKY: I

         24  don't recall if it's part of the directive, but

         25  that's what we will probably be working for.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: The new

          3  promotional directive waives the five criteria of

          4  promotion to Deputy Warden, including an interview

          5  by a performance board, and a performance rating by

          6  the candidate supervisor.

          7                 I understand that the promotion board

          8  usually asks each candidate just three questions

          9  over a 15-minute interview. Why should such a short

         10  limited interview carry more weight than the

         11  performance ratings?

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER VENGERSKY:

         13  Well, it's really not an interview, although we

         14  really use that term. It's really more of an oral

         15  presentation, the term we're using here. And we're

         16  really looking at the way, not only what the person

         17  has to say, but how they say it, and how they are

         18  able to confine their comments within a set period

         19  of time.

         20                 If we had a sort of standard

         21  interview, those interviews could take varying

         22  amounts of time, and not everyone would be treated

         23  in the same way, because people would have different

         24  follow-up questions. This way, by asking set

         25  questions, the in-basket questions that I referred
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          2  to before, the candidates are all being treated as

          3  close as possible in the same way, and they are

          4  given a time limit. So, no one can say, well, so and

          5  so had 20 minutes to answer, I only had 15 minutes,

          6  so and do didn't ask me a follow-up question, but

          7  someone else got five follow-up questions. That is

          8  not a good sign. So, that's where we wanted to

          9  structure it much more narrowly.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: And this is part

         11  of the directive? This is something that is

         12  standardized?

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER VENGERSKY:

         14  What I just repeated, in terms of the detail, is not

         15  in the directive. But it's one of the things that

         16  we're looking at in terms of modification to the

         17  future, in terms of articulating in the directive.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I also understand

         19  that the same questions asked of each interviewee,

         20  as you've just stated, a person interviewing on

         21  Tuesday, will get the same questions as the person

         22  interviewing on Monday; is that correct?

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER VENGERSKY: No,

         24  actually it isn't. The people who are interviewed on

         25  one day all receive the same question, that is true.
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          2                 People interviewed on the second day

          3  receive an alternate form of the same question.

          4  Similar but not the same.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay.

          6                 How does the person's score affect

          7  their likelihood of being selected for promotion?

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER VENGERSKY:

          9  Well, based on the final score, candidates are

         10  ranked in bands, and the higher the score, the more

         11  likely that that person's name will be sent to the

         12  Chief, and then the Chief will send that candidate's

         13  name to the Commissioner, based on the number of

         14  vacancies.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Yes.

         16                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER VENGERSKY:

         17  Based on any procedure, the higher your score, the

         18  more likely it is that you will be selected.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: So you have a

         20  certain number of individuals seeking whatever

         21  vacancies exist, and then based on the criteria that

         22  you set out, you would select whoever had that

         23  highest score? Or is there any other criteria that

         24  -- I mean, is there a point that you've observed

         25  that it somewhat becomes subjective?
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER VENGERSKY:

          3  Well, the scoring is simply a basis for which the

          4  Commissioner has a group of ranked names and from

          5  that group he conducts interviews. His interview is

          6  critical to the process, but he's only receiving the

          7  highest ranked individuals. From those individuals

          8  he makes a selection.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: If you have a

         10  numerical weighting system, why can't the Chief of

         11  Department still interview everyone who puts in for

         12  promotion?

         13                 And if the waiting system means

         14  anything, wouldn't it be more appropriate for the

         15  Chief to only interview certain portion of the top

         16  scores?

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER VENGERSKY:

         18  That's exactly what happened.

         19                 Thirty-nine people applied, and the

         20  Chief interviewed the top 22.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: So, it's not part

         22  of the directive, though?

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER VENGERSKY: No,

         24  it isn't. And we might want to clarify that. We have

         25  to talk about that.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Right. I'm glad

          3  to hear that you are evaluating that, because then

          4  that goes to the core of the integrity of the

          5  process, you're talking about?

          6                 Because if you establish a numerical

          7  system, I think implicit in that, that those who are

          8  ranked at the top are going to have the ability more

          9  so to be looked upon, as opposed to someone who

         10  falls below the ranking of your top candidates.

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER VENGERSKY:

         12  Exactly.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: So, I think

         14  that's an important piece where it's going to be

         15  really critical to clear up the gray area, and I'm

         16  glad to hear that you're looking at doing that.

         17                 Is there anything to stop the next

         18  Correction Commissioner from eliminating

         19  Commissioner Horn's directive on Warden promotion?

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER VENGERSKY:

         21  There's nothing to stop it. But, you know, in

         22  Correction, the way we make something part of the

         23  Department is to institutionalize it, and the way

         24  you've institutionalize it is through what we've

         25  already started with a directive process, and each
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          2  time the procedure is used, it I think solidifies

          3  the acceptance of the procedure by management, by

          4  the people being evaluated, and it becomes a past

          5  practice and an institutionalized feature of the

          6  Department.

          7                 So, it becomes more difficult to

          8  change it, because it has sort of the consent of the

          9  governed, and the consent of those who are

         10  governing, if you will.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I guess that our

         12  concern is that, and I guess it's a concern for most

         13  individuals in our society, that when there's a

         14  political wait put upon an individual, who is in a

         15  position of enforcing a directive, that directives

         16  can fall by the wayside, which is why we started

         17  this discussion to begin with about really codifying

         18  this in a way in which it provides that transparency

         19  and we don't see abuses arising from it.

         20                 You know, it takes a person of great

         21  conscience to want to institutionalize a directive.

         22  We can't say that that's always the case. In going

         23  forward I think that is what will really, really

         24  move the Corrections Department ahead, and really

         25  highlight, I think, the advances that Commissioner
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          2  Horn has made with the Department.

          3                 Our concern, and I think the concern

          4  of many of the folks who have been through

          5  tumultuous times in the Department, and still remain

          6  active participants, and active members of the

          7  Department really transcend some of the negatives

          8  that have been associated with it, is the ability to

          9  make sure that going forward, there's no way of

         10  going back. You understand what I'm saying?

         11                 So, I'll take you at word value here,

         12  and I guess the proof will certainly be in the

         13  pudding.

         14                 Do you have any suggestions of

         15  measures that the Council or the Department take to

         16  introduce some permanent objective elements to the

         17  Deputy Warden and Warden promotion process?

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER VENGERSKY: I

         19  really don't, no.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Well, would you

         21  give it some thought?

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER VENGERSKY:

         23  Sure.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay, thank you.

         25                 I just wanted to acknowledge that
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          2  we've been joined by a member of this Committee,

          3  Council Member Tracy Boyland of Brooklyn.

          4                 Any other questions?

          5                 Okay, well, Mr. Vengersky, I want to

          6  thank you for bringing the testimony.

          7                 Good morning, and I'd like to welcome

          8  you to this Committee on Fire and Criminal Justice

          9  Services.

         10                 This is an issue that we have been

         11  examining for quite some time, and your expert

         12  testimony is highly seeked in this area, and I'd

         13  like to ask each of you to give your name and

         14  affiliation before you begin testifying, and if you

         15  can limit your comments to about three minutes so

         16  that we can follow-up with any questions you may

         17  have? Okay, thank you.

         18                 MR. PATTERSON: Good morning. My name

         19  is Ison Patterson. Retired Assistant Deputy Warden,

         20  New York City Department of Corrections.

         21                 I'm here today to urge you to support

         22  Intro. 330 which requires a civil service test with

         23  Deputy Warden, the third line supervisory position,

         24  New York City Department of Corrections.

         25                 This would ensure promotional parity
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          2  opportunities, similar to that of the New York City

          3  Police Department.

          4                 I was promoted to Assistant Deputy

          5  Warden in May 1999, and attempted to climb the

          6  career ladder based on my knowledge, education,

          7  experience, and other factors.

          8                 For over four years I watched a

          9  polluted corrupt system in which those Assistant

         10  Deputy Wardens involved in Republican politics, as

         11  opposed to the concept of merit and fitness. I was

         12  also the subject of harassment and intimidation for

         13  expressing my displeasure of a lack of opportunity

         14  for blacks and other minorities in the promotional

         15  process.

         16                 This intimidation and harassment was

         17  because of my exercising my First Amendment Rights

         18  off duty while using my home telephone.

         19                 This legislation would ensure the

         20  best and brightest achieve real equal opportunity

         21  for promotion.

         22                 Thank you very much.

         23                 MS. ROSATO: My name is Frances

         24  Rosato, and I am a retired Deputy Warden of the New

         25  York City Department of Correction.
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          2                 Good morning.

          3                 I was a member of the New York City

          4  Department of Correction for 20 years, and I retired

          5  in 2002, in the rank of Deputy Warden.

          6                 As a former Deputy Warden, I'm here

          7  today to urge your support for the promulgation of a

          8  civil service test for the promotion to the rank of

          9  Deputy Warden.

         10                 From my own experience, and the

         11  experience of others, I have witnessed firsthand the

         12  improper influence of political affiliation in the

         13  promotion of staff.

         14                 The men and women of the Department

         15  of Correction, who often work -- who work under

         16  dangerous conditions and who are often

         17  unappreciated, need and deserve unbiased,

         18  experienced, incompetent Deputy Wardens who have

         19  achieved their positions by merit.

         20                 To give you a brief look at my

         21  background, I received a master's degree in special

         22  education from Fordham University. It was in 1983,

         23  after having taught in the field of special

         24  education for five years, that I began employment

         25  with the Department of Correction.
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          2                 Once I completed the first two months

          3  in the Department's training academy, I was ready

          4  and willing to work hard to begin my new career.

          5                 The Department offered civil service

          6  testing as a means of promotion. I studied hard, and

          7  I was quickly promoted to the rank of captain, and

          8  then I passed the test for the next rank, Assistant

          9  Deputy Warden.

         10                 And in 1989, within a record six and

         11  a half years of joining the Department, I was made

         12  an Assistant Deputy Warden.

         13                 As an Assistant Deputy Warden, I

         14  began work as a shift commander in a large facility

         15  on Rikers Island. During that time I was the

         16  recipient of a Mayor's graduate scholarship award

         17  and I was attending night classes and earned a

         18  second master's degree in public administration.

         19                 After my promotion to Assistant

         20  Deputy Warden, I had reached the ceiling, there were

         21  no more civil service examinations.

         22                 I, and others like me, who were

         23  seeking promotion to Deputy Warden, were now subject

         24  to the whims and the agenda of those who ran the

         25  agency.
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          2                 Because of the unfairness in the

          3  promotion process to Deputy Warden in 1990, the

          4  Assistant Deputy Wardens Association had reached an

          5  agreement with then Commissioner Seilof (phonetic).

          6                 A Departmental directive was

          7  promulgated that narrowed the pool of candidates for

          8  promotion to those with the greatest seniority and

          9  experience and rank.

         10                 For individuals who were newly

         11  promoted to Assistant Deputy Warden, such as myself,

         12  this meant waiting for the opportunity to be

         13  promoted.

         14                 I did not perceive this as a change,

         15  this change as a problem, as I knew my time would

         16  come, and in the meantime I became a more seasoned

         17  supervisor.

         18                 Indeed during this time I was

         19  decorated by the Department for my actions during

         20  the barricade of housing area, by inmates at the

         21  Anna M. Cross Center. When my time to be considered

         22  for promotion to Deputy Warden came, the political

         23  winds changed once again, this time for the worst.

         24                 The new departmental leaders

         25  dismantled the 1990 directive, and generalized the
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          2  promotion criteria to Deputy Warden to allow them

          3  the freedom to promote anyone they wished and not

          4  necessarily the most qualified.

          5                 While it would seem logical that

          6  someone with my record of achievement would be

          7  promoted to Deputy Warden regardless of a changing

          8  criteria, this did not occur.

          9                 Since I did not have the correct

         10  political affiliation and a willingness to act as an

         11  agent to further private agendas of those in

         12  authority, I remained an Assistant Deputy Warden for

         13  nine and a half years.

         14                 In 1997, for a brief period, an

         15  individual who knew of my achievements and work

         16  ethic became Chief of the Department, I was promoted

         17  to Deputy Warden at that time.

         18                 The new Chief promoted those who were

         19  deserving of promotion, and for a short while it

         20  seemed to me that further advancement was possible.

         21                 In 1998, however, once again the

         22  political winds changed. A new set of leaders took

         23  office with an even more aggressive and self-serving

         24  agenda. Because the Department had been running

         25  smoothly and with little inmate violence and jail
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          2  over -- reduced jail overcrowding, the new

          3  leadership took the opportunity to exercise greater

          4  political muscle.

          5                 Their inexcusable behavior has been

          6  widely publicized in the press, making it

          7  unnecessary to repeat the facts here. What was not

          8  reported in the press, however, was the horrendous

          9  affect upon the morale of Assistant Deputy Wardens.

         10                 The damage to morale was a result of

         11  the promotion of the less deserving and politically

         12  connected to coveted positions within the agency.

         13                 Those --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Excuse me. I'm

         15  sorry. I'm going to have to ask you to summarize.

         16                 MS. ROSATO: I will now. I will.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay.

         18                 MS. ROSATO: The problems of the

         19  favoritism are not just confined to Assistant Dep --

         20  to Deputy Warden. What happens is Deputy Wardens do

         21  become chiefs, wardens and chiefs, and they're

         22  unqualified for their positions.

         23                 I, myself, went back to school again.

         24  I have graduated from New York Law School, I will be

         25  admitted to the bar this year. I was consistently
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          2  passed over for promotion.

          3                 My story could have had another

          4  ending. I wanted to go as far as my talents would

          5  take me. And instead I was only able to go as far as

          6  political climate would let me go.

          7                 And I believe in my heart that a test

          8  for Deputy Warden would at least begin to stem the

          9  tide of something that is completely out of control

         10  within the agency.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 MR. KAISER: Good morning,

         13  Councilwoman Clarke, members of the Committee, my

         14  name is Nicholas Kaiser. I apologize for not having

         15  a prepared statement, I am speaking off the cuff, as

         16  I was asked to by Mr. Schwartzbaum.

         17                 I served for over 20 years in the New

         18  York City Department of Correction at three

         19  uniformed rank levels, Correction Officer, Captain,

         20  Assistant Deputy Warden. I was an attorney for the

         21  New York City Department of Correction working in

         22  the Trials and Litigation Division, while in rank,

         23  in uniform, and the Legal Division of the New York

         24  City Department of Correction, during which time I

         25  was a Special Prosecutor for High Profile
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          2  Disciplinary Matters.  I worked in a number of

          3  capacities. In Central Headquarters I was the

          4  Executive Officer of Internal Justice Bureau, and in

          5  my position as an attorney I was frequently called

          6  upon to give the Department's legal position on

          7  issues in consultation with high levels members of

          8  the Department. So, I was able to work on a daily

          9  basis hand-in-hand with high level uniform and

         10  non-uniform members of the agency.

         11                 I can tell you that while I

         12  completely and fully support Intro. 330, because I

         13  do believe it is probably the only effective method

         14  to ensure that there is some efficacy to the

         15  promotional process to Deputy Warden now in future

         16  generations, devoid of the politicism, cronyism, and

         17  favoritism that I have seen exercised personally and

         18  through anecdotal statements made to me by other

         19  members, while I was with the Department and

         20  afterwards, I also believe firmly that it is the

         21  only method to successfully ensure that a

         22  competently promoted Deputy Warden is not subjected

         23  to retaliation and retribution based on political or

         24  other motivations, specifically through the use of

         25  the disciplinary process, which I firmly believe was
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          2  totally and completely abused at prior

          3  administrations. The unevenness to such extent that

          4  there are deputy wardens who were afforded formal

          5  due process Article 75 rights under the New York

          6  State Civil Service Law, because they were favored

          7  few, and were then given light punishments but

          8  subsequently remained in rank, while others whom I

          9  personally know of were given the opportunity to

         10  either take a demotion or retire.

         11                 In my subsequent private practice,

         12  after I retired from the Department, I left over 20

         13  years, left the agency in 1999, I represented two

         14  Deputy Wardens, and I can't go into details because

         15  of Attorney/Client privilege, but two Deputy Wardens

         16  who had spotless careers, were significantly

         17  tenured, had commendations and awards from both the

         18  Department and outside the agency, and were, in

         19  essence, based on the facts that I had received and

         20  reviewed, set up and told that they would either

         21  retire or be demoted in rank, because they could not

         22  obtain the supported testimony from persons that

         23  were literally terrorized by the existing

         24  administration to support their positions, they were

         25  forced to retire.
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          2                 These were two cases which I could

          3  not bring to litigation, simply because we couldn't

          4  get the evidence, because the persons who would have

          5  to testify in support of them were either threatened

          6  by the Department, or in one instance, promoted

          7  twice subsequently.

          8                 So, this is the kinds of abuse that I

          9  think needs to be redressed, in addition to the fact

         10  that we need to have a fair system to promote

         11  competent dedicated people, so that we don't have

         12  the Serra's, I think we need to protect those

         13  competent, and properly promoted Deputy Wardens who

         14  would be subjected to this kind of retribution of

         15  retaliation, simply because they're not of the right

         16  political persuasion, or otherwise.

         17                 Thank you very much.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I wanted to thank

         19  you for giving your testimony, and I know that each

         20  of you have retired since the new Administration has

         21  been in office, and they are of the belief that

         22  Directive 2226, which sort of outlines a process

         23  within the broadband system for promotion to occur.

         24                 Can each of you give your thoughts,

         25  and I know you may not have an intimate knowledge of
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          2  the directive, but at least the testimony you've

          3  heard this morning, of whether you think this

          4  sufficiently addresses the concerns, based on your

          5  observations of what are taking place historically?

          6                 MR. PATTERSON: Ms. Clarke --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Just give me your

          8  name again for you begin speaking.

          9                 MR. PATTERSON: Ison Patterson.

         10                 The Directive, although it does add

         11  some teeth and some objectivity, I'll tell you, long

         12  term it's going to fail.

         13                 The test is the only barometer, the

         14  only panacea, to really ensure that those who are

         15  skilled, those who know, is going back to that rank.

         16                 Mr. Vengersky touched on change of

         17  assignment -- no, no, no. Warden level 1, Warden

         18  Level -- it's not change in assignment, it's

         19  promotion. You get more power, more resource, more

         20  opportunity, more everything. Let's deal with the

         21  reality of it all. The Directives, again,

         22  Commissioners come, Commissioners go, it has to be

         23  put in practice.

         24                 I think that the test itself will be,

         25  again, it's not a panacea, but it's a better

                                                            34

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  barometer to measure those who are qualified.

          3                 I know unequivocally that I would

          4  have risen to a much higher rank, given the

          5  opportunity to take something that's more objective,

          6  and for those who tried to silence me. Alice Walker,

          7  famous African-American, said "no person is your

          8  friend who demands your silence or deny your right

          9  to grow." That's what the DOC did to me, is they

         10  suffocated you in every aspect, mentally,

         11  emotionally, spiritually, psychologically, and they

         12  move with impunity.

         13                 I'm not just talking out of sour

         14  grapes, I'm talking from a realistic perspective and

         15  personal experience. I think Winston Churchill said,

         16  he said "for evil to exist, it is necessary that

         17  good men do nothing." Thank God for men like Sidney

         18  Schwartzbaum, who challenged the status quo. One of

         19  the very few persons who wasn't controlled by them.

         20  And I told them, you may attempt to control

         21  Assistant Deputy Warden Patterson, or you can never

         22  control Ison Patterson. You can control the rent,

         23  you can't control the man.

         24                 Thank you very much.

         25                 MS. ROSATO: Yes, Chair Clarke. During
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          2  my time with the agency, the Departmental Directive,

          3  there was a directive in place prior to 1990, there

          4  was a 1990 directive, and if you would go to the

          5  Department of Records, you would see that that

          6  directive changed, I'd say every three years. It

          7  changed relative to the new chief, the new

          8  Commissioner. The City seems to want it both ways.

          9  They use the document when it favors them, if

         10  they've written a document that constrains them too

         11  much, they change it. I've witnessed this

         12  personally.

         13                 The document is very similar to the

         14  1990 directive with its numbers and its weight and

         15  its evaluation, and it's not even as good as the

         16  paper it's written on because the next person can

         17  come along and change it.

         18                 And within, even within those numbers

         19  there is a subtle, a subtle agenda, if you will, we

         20  all new it, we knew it all the time. We would get

         21  the roster of candidates, all of us would put in,

         22  because they would publicize the roster, and there

         23  would be odds, you know, about who was going to get

         24  it this time, and we all knew. We all knew who was

         25  going to get it and who wasn't going to even get an
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          2  interview. We just knew. And you knew for all the

          3  reasons that we've stated here. There's an in-crowd,

          4  and an out-crowd, and it has very little to do with

          5  how hard you work. The Department also knew who were

          6  the hard workers and the competent people, because

          7  they always got placed in a tough jail, especially

          8  when that tough jail got out of control, he would

          9  send one of the stepchildren to work and they would

         10  fix it up for you, but they would never get

         11  rewarded.

         12                 Followed behind them would be a

         13  favorite son. They would reap the benefits of your

         14  hard work and they would move up to the next rank.

         15                 I just witnessed it so many times,

         16  it's hard to not sound bitter and cynical. Thank God

         17  for the Office of Equal Opportunity and the

         18  Department of Civil Rights, because when they can't

         19  -- if you refuse to be ignored, they will try

         20  deliberately to attempt to destroy your career.

         21                 I have had to file two Equal

         22  Employment Opportunity suits, in my time in the

         23  agency, and I was vindicated both times, it's best

         24  to be quiet and walk away, and eventually in 2002 I

         25  did that. I didn't want to leave, I loved the work.
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          2                 And, so, they haven't done a thing I

          3  haven't seen them do 50 times before.

          4                 MR. KAISER: Chair Clarke, Councilman

          5  Avella, Councilwoman Boyland, you know, I heard the

          6  remarks of Mr. Vengersky, who I find to be a very

          7  decent, intelligent and honorable man, I known him a

          8  long time, and I have no doubt Commissioner Horn is

          9  also. Unfortunately, they may not be here in the

         10  future, and we've seen what happens when the

         11  political win can change.

         12                 And while we addressed the

         13  front-loaded issue of promotions to rank of Deputy

         14  Warden, I must nonetheless address my comments after

         15  the other side of it, which is the protection of the

         16  rights of the Deputy Warden, and I don't believe

         17  that until -- I believe, that until you establish a

         18  civil service rank of Deputy Warden, resulting from

         19  promotion based on a merit exam, and provide that

         20  Deputy Warden with the protections of Article 75 of

         21  the New York State Civil Service Law, as all other

         22  civil service members have, you're not going to

         23  ensure the efficacy of an entire process.

         24                 We've heard the testimony of Mr.

         25  Vengersky, who is a very experienced and
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          2  knowledgeable individual, yet Council Member Clarke

          3  brought up some issues and raised some questions

          4  that showed some chinks in the armor of this new

          5  directive, and that is simply because it's an ad

          6  hoc, cobbled together criteria and protocol which is

          7  still highly subjective.

          8                 Until you have an objective system,

          9  you're never going to ensure there's a meritocracy

         10  and that there is efficacy to the promotion to the

         11  rank of Deputy Warden. Plain and simply.

         12                 The exam questions that are asked, or

         13  the panel questions asked, if they are not the same

         14  and there is not a correct answer, how do you judge

         15  the response except in a subjective fashion? I put

         16  that to your attention.

         17                 So, they can rewrite this directive

         18  20 times, because I happen to, in my capacity, from

         19  the legal department, review these directives,

         20  including the prior directives for promotion to the

         21  rank of Deputy Warden, and everybody tries to

         22  augment it and fix it here and there, but it simply

         23  cannot supplant the only reasonable means of doing

         24  this; and that is to have a civil service exam.

         25                 Now, this entire concept of
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          2  reassignment between the broadbanding ranks, I'd

          3  love to see anyone tell a member of the Police

          4  Department they were reassigned from Captain to

          5  Deputy Inspector and get away with it, because

          6  that's a promotion, and I'm sure that the

          7  Commissioner of the Department will tell you that,

          8  and I'm sure the member would tell you that who got

          9  promoted.

         10                 Only now and in this hearing is it a

         11  reassignment. They give you a shield that says

         12  Deputy Warden, they give you more money, so don't

         13  tell me that the responsibilities are the same,

         14  because I happen to know they're completely

         15  different.

         16                 And I believe that what is attempting

         17  to be foisted upon us is a means for the agency to

         18  protect what may well be a bargaining chip in future

         19  labor negotiations, which is another issue I won't

         20  touch upon. But that doesn't defeat the fact that

         21  there needs to be a meritocracy. There needs to be,

         22  from the perspective of the New York City taxpayer,

         23  who winds up having to pay all these dollars on

         24  these lawsuits, based upon actions by these

         25  incompetent people, when I served in the legal
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          2  division I used to get my standard Friday afternoon

          3  call from a Warden or a Chief on how to handle a

          4  warrant, how to handle an out-of-state warrant, how

          5  to handle a discharge, what do we do with this guy,

          6  what do we do with that guy. And you know what? It's

          7  not because I'm a brilliant attorney, it's because I

          8  actually worked in general office as an officer and

          9  a captain, I knew how the paperwork was. And I have

         10  a Warden and Chief calling me to ask me how to

         11  process this individual. Why? Because this is the

         12  cousin of, the son of, the friend of, I worked

         13  security or I did this in a political campaign, who

         14  is now sitting there with a Gold Eagle or one or two

         15  stars who don't really know the job.

         16                 If you want to ensure against that,

         17  and ensure that the people's money is protected from

         18  needless lawsuits, then establish an exam. It's the

         19  only thing that I can say. I can't be more forceful.

         20                 I can bring up more anecdotal

         21  incidents than you would care to hear from my

         22  experiences, and I won't belabor you with that, but

         23  you must ensure that this Intro. 330 is passed, that

         24  the Department establishes a promotional exam to

         25  Deputy Warden, or we will see the City pay more
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          2  money for illegal strip searches, based upon orders

          3  from high-ranking superiors who have completely no

          4  knowledge of Federal Court consent decrees with

          5  which the Department of Correction still lives under

          6  to this date.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I want to thank

          9  you all for your testimony and response to my

         10  questions. That certainly puts things into

         11  perspective for us from a Committee standpoint, and

         12  we will be following up with this issue. There will

         13  be further discussions about how we can, I believe,

         14  codify, the rank of Assistant Deputy Warden and

         15  Deputy Warden.

         16                 Because it's clear to me that there's

         17  a lot of subjectivity in here, and I was not

         18  completely satisfied with what I heard because it

         19  does seem to be a work-in-progress.

         20                 Thanks again. Thank you very much.

         21                 We're going to vote on -- I'm sorry,

         22  I haven't acknowledged that we've been joined by

         23  Council Member David Yassky. We've been joined by

         24  Council Member Tony Avella. I understand that

         25  Council Member Yassky has a comment to make at this
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          2  time.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Yes, thank

          4  you, Chair Clarke. I won't ask the panel to come

          5  back, because I guess this is not a question but an

          6  observation. And I want to beg your indulgence, the

          7  Committee on Governmental Operations is holding a

          8  hearing at this moment on a bill which I introduced

          9  and so I wanted to be there for the questioning.

         10                 I feel very strongly that we should

         11  be taking up Intro. 330. I commend you for holding

         12  this oversight hearing. What happened at the

         13  Department of Corrections, at a prior time, I want

         14  to be clear, I do not have any doubt about the

         15  ability of Commissioner Horn and about his

         16  integrity, but what happened at the Department of

         17  Correction was an absolute disgrace, at tremendous

         18  cost to public safety, to the safety of our

         19  Correction Officers who are out there putting

         20  themselves on the line at cost to democracy, because

         21  when you turn jobs like that over for, as rewards,

         22  you distort our basic democracy.

         23                 So, I believe that Intro 330, which

         24  would turn Assistant Deputy Warden into a

         25  merit-based position, is a necessity, and Chair, I
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          2  just wanted to commend you for holding this hearing.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you,

          4  Council member.

          5                 We have two pieces of legislation

          6  under consideration and for vote today. Intro. 248,

          7  which regulates, updates regulations on the storage

          8  and transportation of flammable and combustable

          9  materials, as well as Intro. 247 which overhauls the

         10  Fire Codes, regulation of commercial refrigeration

         11  systems, and has the strong support of the industry.

         12                 So, we would like to take the vote at

         13  this time.

         14                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: On Intro. 247,

         15  Council Member Clarke.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Aye on all.

         17                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: And 248,

         18  Council Member Clarke.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Aye on all.

         20                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member

         21  Boyland.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Aye on all.

         23                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member

         24  Avella.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Aye on all.
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          2                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member

          3  Yassky.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Aye.

          5                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Intro. 247 and

          6  Intro. 248 are adopted by a vote of four in the

          7  affirmative and zero in the negative.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Council

          9  Member Clarke, I just want to say, I really give you

         10  kudos on the work that you're doing on the

         11  Committee. Unfortunately, there are 500 graduates

         12  waiting for me in Brooklyn and I have to go but we

         13  will, at the next hearing I will continue to support

         14  the efforts of the work that you're doing.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you,

         16  Council Member Boyland.

         17                 And we're going to move on to our

         18  next panel of experts at this time. Thank you very

         19  much, Council members.

         20                 Our next panel consists of Sid

         21  Schwartzbaum, President of the Deputy Warden's

         22  Association; Edward J. Gavin, and Anthony Miranda,

         23  of the National Latino Association, Officers

         24  Association.

         25                 Oh, Mr. Gavin, would you just hold on
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          2  to our next panel? I'll have you speak next. We have

          3  Mr. Miranda and -- oh, Mr. Gavin is on your panel?

          4  Okay. Gentlemen, you can commence your testimony.

          5  Just give your name and affiliation before you

          6  begin.

          7                 MR. GAVIN: Good morning, Council

          8  Member Clarke. My name is Edward J. Gavin. I'm

          9  currently employed by CopStat Security in the Bronx.

         10  I'm the Director of Investigations in the private

         11  sector. I'm formerly the Deputy Director in the

         12  Office of Emergency Management during Ground Zero. I

         13  was in charge of anthrax detection, explosive

         14  detection, so on and so forth. I'm also a Deputy

         15  Warden retired New York City Correction. And I was

         16  formerly a Deputy Sheriff in the City of New York's

         17  Sheriff's Department.

         18                 I'm like the Correction Serpico, if

         19  you will. I'm the one that brought Mr. Serra to

         20  everyone's attention. I had Sarah Wallace go to his

         21  home, watch the Department people working at his

         22  house. I had her go to the rental car agency where

         23  we saw Correction officers in uniform picking up

         24  agency vehicles on City time. I created the whole

         25  thing, and I'm glad I did.
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          2                 I come from a civil service family.

          3  My father was a New York City Fire Marshal. He's

          4  retired at Police Officer status. My grandfather

          5  worked for the New York City Transit Authority for

          6  44 years. And I have recently moved into the City of

          7  New York, and you're going to be hearing a lot from

          8  me. I am now a Queens resident, and I don't take

          9  prisoners.

         10                 Having said that, I would just like

         11  to say a little bit today, read a little bit to you

         12  of what I feel about the Deputy Warden promotional

         13  process, and I'll begin to read one page and the a

         14  second page, and I have some comments. You know, if

         15  you have some questions, I have a couple of comments

         16  regarding Mr. Vengersky's testimony.

         17                 I'm here today to ask you to support

         18  legislation which will ensure that the best and most

         19  qualified Assistant Deputy Wardens are elevated to

         20  the rank of Deputy Warden.

         21                 I call your attention to all the

         22  corruption being uncovered in the Correction

         23  Department today. Currently inexperienced political

         24  insiders are promoted to Deputy Warden based solely

         25  on who they know, rather than what they know.
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          2                 I believe that an individual who has

          3  a civil service protected position is less likely to

          4  be influenced by politics, and less likely to engage

          5  in corrupt or questionable activities.

          6                 The best way to attain the rank of

          7  Deputy Warden is to take a competitive civil service

          8  examination and to score well.

          9                 Presently, however, many seeking

         10  promotion to the rank of Deputy Warden feel

         11  pressured to join political groups and work on

         12  Mayoral and gubernatorial election campaigns in the

         13  hope that this will guarantee them a promotion.

         14                 This has created a situation wherein

         15  those who do not work on political campaigns are not

         16  even considered for promotion. These are typically

         17  the candidates with the most knowledge, talent and

         18  experience.

         19                 Broadbanding, the method of promotion

         20  currently used by the Commissioner, causes

         21  dissention in the ranks. Promoting experienced,

         22  unqualified political hacks to managerial positions

         23  creates an atmosphere of distrust and cynicism and

         24  it lays the foundation for abuse of power.

         25                 This is exactly what has happened at
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          2  the Department of Correction over the past two

          3  decades.

          4                 Restoring a civil service promotional

          5  examination for the rank of Deputy Warden, would

          6  generate healthy competition, establish a level

          7  playing field, and would ultimately result in the

          8  promotion of the most qualified candidates.

          9                 Many experienced and talented people

         10  have fled the agency knowing they would never get

         11  promoted under the current system of broadbanding,

         12  such as my colleague friend Rosato, who is probably

         13  one of the most educated people I've ever met. She

         14  is, in the Department of Correction, in my 20 years.

         15  The woman should have been the Chief of the

         16  Department.

         17                 Basically, under the current system

         18  broadbanding is a vast waste of human potential. Is

         19  this the road we want to continue down?

         20                 The time has come to end political

         21  promotions and broadbanding, and to embrace a

         22  concept of merit and fitness. I urge you to

         23  reinstate the Civil Service exam for promotion to

         24  Deputy Warden in the New York City Department of

         25  Correction.
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          2                 And being that you had mentioned

          3  Anthony Serra, I just thought I would give you a

          4  little, just to sum it up:

          5                 A short time ago, in the Department

          6  of Correction, Tony Serra was hired and thought a

          7  fine selection...

          8                 Not happy with counting and the

          9  locking of gates, Tony started scheming, looking for

         10  the quick breaks...

         11                 Old Tony looked around, and what did

         12  he see? A chance to advance quickly, courtesy of the

         13  State GOP...

         14                 Promoted to Bureau Chief, and to

         15  nobody's surprise, slick Tony now had his eye on the

         16  ultimate prize...

         17                 Thought Tony, I've made it this far

         18  without even a beef, might as well call my friend in

         19  Albany to make me the Chief...

         20                 The Governor told Tony, I'll do as

         21  you ask, but the primary is coming and so of you I

         22  must task; gather your officers and get out my vote,

         23  and here's a quarter-million dollars to put in your

         24  poke...

         25                 So Tony assembled his staff from
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          2  jails here and there, and promised if they worked

          3  how well they would fare...

          4                 Unfortunately for Tony, his plans

          5  went awry, for in his camp of psycho-fans, there

          6  must have been a spy...

          7                 The news was replete with on-duty DOC

          8  staff, renting cars and handing out flyers and other

          9  political chaff...

         10                 But the ultimate straw that broke

         11  Tony's back, was the fact that his friends

         12  discovered he was a true political hack...

         13                 The money he pocketed he chose not to

         14  share, which caused his staff to go on a

         15  whistle-blower tare...

         16                 And now today when the Governor is

         17  asked if Tony he knew, the only response you'll get

         18  is pardon me? Tony who?

         19                 And that's the story. Thank you very

         20  much.

         21                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Do you have

         22  a copy of that?

         23                 MR. GAVIN: I would like to keep it

         24  confidential.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Gentlemen, if you
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          2  could just excuse us a moment? We have been joined

          3  by both Council Member Gerson and Council Member

          4  Monserrate, and they didn't have an opportunity to

          5  voice their vote for the new introductions that we

          6  held just a moment ago. So, if you would just

          7  indulge us just a minute, we would like to have

          8  their votes on the record.

          9                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: On Intro. 247

         10  and Intro. 248, Council Member Gerson.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Aye on all.

         12  And, Madam Chair, I thank you for your indulgence

         13  and consideration. Today is one of those days which

         14  we all have from time to time, and I beg the

         15  indulgence of the witnesses, I'm going to be having

         16  to go back and forth between here and across the

         17  street. But I recognize the importance of the

         18  hearing, and the significance of this issue, and

         19  we'll work very closely with the Committee and with

         20  you all to prevent undue political influence in the

         21  promotion.

         22                 On the vote, I vote aye on all.

         23                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member

         24  Monserrate.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Thank you
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          2  very much. To the witnesses, thank you for your

          3  indulgence also. And there can be a career for you

          4  in rap music perhaps after your role here.

          5                 I vote in the affirmative on both

          6  Intro. 247 and 248, and will be excusing myself

          7  shortly because I have a bill that I have introduced

          8  across the street on awnings with the Buildings

          9  Committee.

         10                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Intro. 247 is

         11  adopted by a vote of six in the affirmative, zero in

         12  the negative; Intro. 248 is adopted by a vote of six

         13  in the affirmative, and zero in the negative.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you,

         15  gentlemen.

         16                 Let us proceed with the testimony.

         17                 MR. MIRANDA: Okay. My name is Anthony

         18  Miranda. I'm the Executive Chairman of the National

         19  Latino Officers Association. We have a chapter in

         20  the New York City Corrections Department, and I'm

         21  speaking on behalf of them at this time, because

         22  they couldn't get excused. They weren't allowed to

         23  come testify today.

         24                 Our written testimony, my written

         25  testimony has been submitted to the panel. I just
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          2  wanted to cover the last part. And when we talked

          3  about the last civil service list arrived from a

          4  test for Assistant Deputy Warden, it was conducted

          5  on June 22nd, 2002, in our first 50 candidates, 92

          6  percent are women or minorities. There is no reason

          7  to think that similar statistics were not evolved

          8  for a test of Deputy Warden. While the new promotion

          9  directive appears at first reading to be based on

         10  objective criteria, the fact that the Chief of

         11  Department can trash a numerical scoring system and

         12  submit to the Commissioner selective candidates

         13  undermines and diminishes the teeth and integrity of

         14  the process. This fact alone renders Directive 2226

         15  mere window dressing as an attempt to be perceived

         16  as an objective.

         17                 A civil service test measuring

         18  candidates' abilities and knowledge is imperative in

         19  light of deficiencies being investigated after 9/11.

         20  During potential life-threatening emergencies, the

         21  best and brightest should be directing operations.

         22  Subordinate staff deserves the best leadership

         23  available.

         24                 When we talk about objective,

         25  verifiable criteria on which to advance. They've
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          2  incorporated subjective interviews and review

          3  processes that lead both the confusion and abuse.

          4                 It would ensure -- passing this and

          5  giving it civil service rank, will ensure greater

          6  competency, accountability in the next level of

          7  discretionary promotion.

          8                 We also believe because of the

          9  critical nature of the position of the level

         10  required of responsibility objective measurable

         11  criteria for promotion will ensure competency,

         12  eliminate favoritism and possible discrimination as

         13  well.

         14                 What you've heard in these

         15  testimonies is people have held the ranks, is that

         16  they want to broadband and have so much discretion

         17  over all the promotions. Any Commissioner would love

         18  to have that, and while you have said Commissioner

         19  Horn is the greatest, he is not God and we have to

         20  put criteria in place that will surpass any

         21  individual administration and create a balance and

         22  fairness which you have spoken about quite

         23  eloquently. And we need to codify that and pass it

         24  immediately. Because in the next rank level there is

         25  absolutely adequate representation and competent
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          2  people, who right now the rank and file do not have

          3  confidence in their leadership, because of all the

          4  abuses that have gone on.

          5                 And we don't need to go through

          6  cycles of good commissioner, bad commissioner, good

          7  commissioner, new administration, new Governor,

          8  whatever it is, we don't need to go through that and

          9  subject hard-working people, law enforcement

         10  officers, to that kind of abuse on a daily basis.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 MR. SCHWARTZBAUM: Good morning,

         13  Councilwoman Clarke and Council members. I have five

         14  pages of testimony which I gave to you, but I'm not

         15  going to belabor you with the history of Anthony

         16  Serra.

         17                 What is puzzling to me is that the

         18  Mayor of the City of New York, Mike Bloomberg, has

         19  touted over and over again, let's fix the judicial

         20  selection process, away from partisan politics.

         21                 Oh, my name is Sidney Schwartzbaum.

         22  I'm President of the Assistant Deputy Wardens Deputy

         23  Wardens Association. And Ms. Clarke, as you know,

         24  we've brought this issue over and over again.

         25                 But as I stated before, the Mayor has
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          2  touted over and over again, let's fix the judicial

          3  selection process with judges, let's fix the

          4  election process with some partisan politics, and

          5  the election process, and also recently touted these

          6  social promotions in third graders.

          7                 We have people who are responsible

          8  for people's lives here. He should apply that dictum

          9  in the Department of Correction.

         10                 There are special aspects that Martha

         11  Hirst has brought up regarding the City's opposition

         12  to this. One being that it violates the City's

         13  Charter and that she has sole exclusive rights to

         14  determine what's to be tested.

         15                 Prior to 1979 it was a test all the

         16  way up to Warden.

         17                 Let me quote the City Charter, page

         18  182, Section 812. Personal management Declaration of

         19  Intent.

         20                 Personal policies and practices of

         21  the City government in furtherance of this Charter,

         22  the Civil Service laws and the rules and other

         23  applicable law shall observe and promote merit and

         24  fitness in City employment, and that wages are set

         25  without regard to political affiliation, and without
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          2  unlawful discrimination, based on sex, race, color

          3  and religion.

          4                 That aspect with regard to political

          5  affiliations I would like to highlight. That I have

          6  firsthand knowledge and I have watched chiefs direct

          7  wardens to put people out on Election Day on City

          8  time, costing the City money, to pursue the

          9  republican candidate's objective.

         10                 That is a violation of the City

         11  Charter. That must stop, and is a violation of the

         12  City Charter.

         13                 The other aspect of Ms. Hirst's being

         14  against the Civil Service test is that she said the

         15  rank of Assistant Deputy Warden and Deputy Warden

         16  are similar, which is far from the truth.

         17                 The ranks differ greatly

         18  in that the Deputy Warden's scope of responsibility

         19  includes the rising institutional orders, managing

         20  budgets, interacting with outside agencies,

         21  promulgating state of command documents, analyzing

         22  statistics, conducting disciplinary hearings for

         23  subordinate staff, and a myriad of other

         24  responsibilities, including serving as Acting

         25  Warden.
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          2                 If there is one thing we're learned

          3  since 9/11 that we need the best and the brightest

          4  at the helm and the most knowledgeable in emergency

          5  plans. In 1990, after the inmate riots at the Otis

          6  Bantum Correctional Center, the Department of

          7  Correction was humiliated at the State Commission of

          8  Correction hearings where the Departmental Executive

          9  staff testified during emergency situations,

         10  training and procedures go out the window.

         11                 At the time, I pondered the logic of

         12  that thought process. If we learned anything after

         13  9/11, it is that those who fail to plan, plan to

         14  fail.

         15                 Planning involves putting into place

         16  barometers utilized to measure an individual's

         17  knowledge of procedures. Intro. 330 would accomplish

         18  that.

         19                 The history of this great City shows

         20  that the corruption of Tamoney Hall resulted in the

         21  establishment of the civil service merit system.

         22  City leaders, such as this Council, must closely

         23  examine the political and criminal mess that

         24  emanated from Rikers Island.

         25                 Broadbanding allows those in power to
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          2  turn a blind eye to competency focusing instead on

          3  political affiliations as the primary qualification

          4  for promotion. That must end, merit and fitness must

          5  return or history will repeat itself again.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 I would just like to comment on this

          8  new Directive, and correct some things that Mr.

          9  Vengersky said.

         10                 Number one: He said that the

         11  Assistant Deputy Wardens have to have two years in

         12  rank to be promoted to Deputy Warden. That is not

         13  true. It's one year in rank.

         14                 Number two: We worked with the

         15  Department trying to devise a directive that was

         16  very objective. The weights and scales we agreed to

         17  was not what the final directive came out.

         18                 This interview by the Promotion Board

         19  is weighted seven - a 15-minute interview, compared

         20  to your supervisor's evaluation, who works with you

         21  over and over again, who knows your work ethic.

         22                 In addition, on a Monday they have

         23  questioned let's say ten candidates, on a Tuesday

         24  those candidates, different candidates, know what

         25  questions were asked on Monday. Although Mr.
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          2  Vengersky said they gave the questions a little

          3  differently, they were basically the same questions.

          4  Though the integrity of that process is totally

          5  compromised.

          6                 And while I will say that Martin Horn

          7  is probably trying to do the right thing, this

          8  Directive is merely eye wash and window dressing.

          9  And I don't want to undermine the efforts of Alan

         10  Vengersky and First Deputy Commissioner John

         11  Antonelli, who I believe tried to come up with

         12  something who was going to be positive, but was

         13  watered down to the point where it's really not what

         14  it was intended to be.

         15                 Lastly, I would like to just touch on

         16  what Anthony said before. The test for Warden Level

         17  1, which was promulgated last year, produced a list

         18  with the first 50 candidates, 92 percent are

         19  minorities, women, and protective classes, and I

         20  will sit here today and tell you that I don't

         21  believe anybody should be promoted based on

         22  ethnicity.

         23                 However, this is the only fair way

         24  this would produce the most competent people

         25  irregardless of race. And if it in the process
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          2  creates inclusion and a more diverse agency, which

          3  is predominantly minority, all the better. But the

          4  City has paid out $50 million a few years ago on one

          5  litigation, had more competent people been in

          6  charge, that wouldn't have been paid out.

          7                 250,000 to Captain Herbert Reid,

          8  350,000 to Lionel Lorquet for supporting Mark Green.

          9  I Mean, this would save the City money and it would

         10  ensure competence, integrity, and if they had the

         11  civil service title of Deputy Warden, when the

         12  Warden or Chief ordered them to release people to do

         13  poll watching on City time, costing the City

         14  taxpayers money, they would have the protection to

         15  say, no, I'm not doing that. That is illegal.

         16  Otherwise we're in the predicament we're in.

         17                 I want to thank you for your help and

         18  listening to me. I've been sounding the trumpet to

         19  justice for three years on this issue, and hopefully

         20  somebody will listen.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I want to thank

         22  you three gentlemen, as well. It's my understanding

         23  that Council Member Hiram Monserrate has some

         24  questions.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Yes, thank
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          2  you, Madam Chair.

          3                 I want to thank, again, the witnesses

          4  today, for really being able to draw to us a clear

          5  picture. Unfortunately I wasn't here earlier to

          6  address the administration, though I do understand

          7  that perhaps just someone on behalf of the

          8  Administration is sitting in this room, so let me

          9  ask some questions of Mr. Schwartzbaum in particular

         10  regarding the rank structure.

         11                 So, currently, as a former member of

         12  the NYPD myself, I have an understanding of the rank

         13  structure. But basically a captain is equivalent to

         14  a sergeant, and a Deputy Warden is equivalent to a

         15  lieutenant in the Police Department, or no?

         16                 MR. SCHWARTZBAUM: A Correction

         17  Officer and Police Officer take a test.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Right.

         19                 MR. SCHWARTZBAUM: Then you have

         20  Police Sergeant, the equivalent of Correction

         21  Captain, first line supervisor, test. Then you have

         22  Assistant Deputy Warden is equivalent to a Police

         23  Lieutenant. Both have tests, both departments.

         24                 Then you get to the Department of

         25  Correction where the rank of Deputy Warden is
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          2  appointed, as opposed to Police Captain, which is

          3  the civil service test. And then after that it's

          4  discretionary.

          5                 So, what we are trying to achieve is

          6  just that one more rank through civil service

          7  testing. And I'm really in a quandary why the City

          8  Administration is against it, considering Mayor

          9  Bloomberg's philosophy on social promotions and

         10  judicial system and all the other messes that we've

         11  witnessed.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Well, let

         13  me just say that, having a little bit of

         14  understanding of how promotions happen in the Police

         15  Department above the rank of captain, I would most

         16  definitely concur with your opinion, and I would

         17  urge this Committee and this body to move swiftly

         18  enacting this legislation.

         19                 I have another question. You stated

         20  in your testimony that, repeatedly, that you have

         21  information, firsthand information about Corrections

         22  Officers being ordered to work on Election Day, poll

         23  workers?

         24                 MR. SCHWARTZBAUM: Well, there is an

         25  article from The Chief called "DOI's Doubled-edged
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          2  Serra." Yes, all of that was reported to DOI. In

          3  1994, former Bureau Chief who was a Warden at the

          4  time, Warden Ralph McCrane, brought it to Chief,

          5  brought it to Michael Caruso's attention. Even at

          6  that time that Anthony Serra was involved with home

          7  repair and election campaigning, and he got a little

          8  slap on the wrist for four days, there was a big

          9  investigation on that.

         10                 But despite that, Anthony Serra rised

         11  (sic) through the ranks, came out through political

         12  affiliation.

         13                 I'd like to emphasize that it may be

         14  perceived that the Mayor or the Governor knew about

         15  illegal things. There is absolutely no evidence to

         16  that. I want to clear that up, and I think they were

         17  complicit in it or involved in knowing what Anthony

         18  Serra was doing.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: You do

         20  know firsthand that this occurred? Whether it was

         21  the knowledge of any of the candidates or not was my

         22  question.

         23                 MR. SCHWARTZBAUM: Oh, yes. And this

         24  has been investigated by DOI. Correction officers

         25  were on duty. Listen, Anthony Serra would still be
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          2  in power today were it not for the man sitting to

          3  the left of me, and if not for the videotape of

          4  officers working on his house, that was going on for

          5  two years, then this whole corruption scandal

          6  wouldn't have been uncovered. Where was DOI at the

          7  time?

          8                 There are many things, I would

          9  implore this Council to investigate within the

         10  Correction Department and subpoena chiefs, by

         11  looking at the certification sheets, how did Anthony

         12  Serra have people working on his house for two

         13  years, paying them overtime, when they were on the

         14  midnight tour home sleeping, and how come nobody was

         15  looking at it. And you will find out after those

         16  hearings that with a nod and a wink they were afraid

         17  of him because he was the hero parent. He was the

         18  hero parent. He was the king maker.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Let me

         20  direct my questions, with respect to the rank of

         21  Deputy Warden, which is next step up from Assistant

         22  Deputy Warden --

         23                 MR. SCHWARTZBAUM: Right.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: What's the

         25  racial or ethnic breakdown of that currently in the
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          2  Department? What's the best of your knowledge?

          3                 MR. SCHWARTZBAUM: I think it's pretty

          4  balanced, I couldn't give you a breakdown. I can't

          5  sit here and say that Commissioner Horn is

          6  discriminatory in any way, although I think that if

          7  they allowed a civil service test, let the best and

          8  the brightest irregardless of race -- as I stated

          9  before, the Warden Level 1 test, Assistant Deputy

         10  Warden, the first 50 candidates on the list are 92

         11  percent minority and women. There's no reason to

         12  believe that a test to Deputy Warden would not

         13  produce the same results as my esteemed friend here,

         14  Anthony Miranda stated.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Okay.

         16  Thank you very much. Thank you, Madam Chair.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Council Member

         18  Gerson.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Your testimony

         20  is so compelling and important that I delayed my

         21  next appointment just briefly.

         22                 Just a couple of follow-up specific

         23  kind of technical questions; how many Deputy Wardens

         24  do we have in the system?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: We have now 100
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          2  Assistant Deputy Wardens who, an Assistant Deputy

          3  Warden is like a tour commander, they work rotating

          4  shifts and they are -- I would compare them to the

          5  emergency room doctor that deals with emergencies as

          6  they come. An inmate might get stabbed, there might

          7  be an inmate insurrection down there, they

          8  dispatched troops and they run that particular tour,

          9  like a tour commander, they're called; whereas, a

         10  Deputy Warden I would equate to more of resident

         11  physician, they're more analytical where they deal

         12  with outside agencies, medical staff, they write

         13  institutional orders and take departmental

         14  procedures and incorporate it specifically germane

         15  to their facility. They try to limit overtime and

         16  they're involved in budgets. It's a completely

         17  different jobs and there are approximately 45 Deputy

         18  Wardens.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Forty-five

         20  Citywide.

         21                 MR. SCHWARTZBAUM: Citywide. In the

         22  Correction Department now with five closed jails.

         23                 So, there are 100 Assistant Deputy

         24  Wardens and 45 Deputy Wardens.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Would you kind
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          2  of describe the Deputy Warden position as more

          3  managerial or more policy-making?

          4                 MR. SCHWARTZBAUM: I would describe it

          5  as an administrator, where they have three Deputy

          6  Wardens usually in a jail, some jails have two. One

          7  is the Deputy Warden of Security, who deals with a

          8  lot of legal issues, like there's a lot of court

          9  mandates regarding strength status inmates and due

         10  process and searching and the introduction and

         11  curtailing prison contraband, arrest of prisoners,

         12  where the Administrative Deputy Warden deals with

         13  overtime controls, allocating of staff, ordering

         14  budgets, dealing with food service, making sure

         15  they're sanitary, and the jail is clean. There are

         16  so many court issues that have come up through the

         17  federal court that we were in violation of over the

         18  years and we'd like to get out of them. And the

         19  program Deputy Warden deals with minimization of

         20  inmate suicide, which is a big incentive now in the

         21  Department of Correction, and I must say we've done

         22  an excellent job from last year, I think we have

         23  seven or eight this year. Knock on wood, we had one,

         24  a lot of medical issues, recreational, getting

         25  employment for inmates. We have a big push now for
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          2  discharge planning and preventing recidivism, Deputy

          3  Warden of Programs would be dealing with that.

          4                 So, each Deputy Warden has a

          5  different function, and there are usually three in a

          6  jail.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Three in each

          8  jail.

          9                 MR. SCHWARTZBAUM: Some jails we have

         10  two.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Those

         12  certainly sound to me like responsibilities for

         13  which we want to assure optimum technical

         14  competence.

         15                 What would you describe -- are there

         16  any one or two major responsibilities which the

         17  Warden does, which the Deputy Warden would not

         18  undertake?

         19                 MR. SCHWARTZBAUM: Well, the Deputy

         20  Warden may serve as the Acting Warden when the

         21  Warden is on vacation. I've compared the Assistant

         22  Deputy Warden to an emergency doctor, the Deputy

         23  Warden to a resident physician, and I would equate

         24  the Warden as the surgeon. He fine-tunes everything

         25  to make sure there's a balance between all of the
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          2  different structures in the jail.

          3                 MR. MIRANDA: When you're speaking,

          4  again, because you're probably more familiar with

          5  the police structure, okay?

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Yes.

          7                 MR. MIRANDA: The Lieutenant, and,

          8  again, Assistant Deputy Warden, the Lieutenant, is

          9  the hands-on guy to handle the every day operations,

         10  and the Deputy Wardens which have these distinct

         11  titles had charge with the overall responsibility of

         12  running that facility, and so then you would want --

         13  as equivalent as the Captain, in the Police

         14  Department they created civil service rank of

         15  captain to ensure that there was competency, and,

         16  again, reach a level of competency before they

         17  started discretionary rank. And, so, you had the

         18  same structure here in the City Corrections

         19  Department, where you want to have that equal level

         20  competency, because they oversee the general

         21  operations, and they can move from one position, the

         22  Deputy Wardens and their three different titles can

         23  easily move from each different position, having

         24  more or less responsibility.

         25                 But they're the overseers to make
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          2  sure that the operations, sort of like the

          3  Lieutenants or the Assistant Deputy Wardens and the

          4  officers are where they're supposed to be, and

          5  functioning the way they're supposed to be.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And I'll

          7  conclude on this note, what I'm just trying to get

          8  at, if you have any final thoughts is, what criteria

          9  do any of you do? How do we draw the line in a sense

         10  in Corrections between discretionary in the civil

         11  service? And I presume no one is going to suggest

         12  that the Commissioner be hired through a -- or be

         13  selected through a civil service exam process alone.

         14  I'm trying to get at some objective criteria as to

         15  pointing out that the responsibilities at some level

         16  either lend themselves appropriately to the civil

         17  service exam, as opposed to the type of more broader

         18  policy responsibilities for which we typically in

         19  this City do apply discretionary hiring through the

         20  political process, and I'm just trying to see which

         21  side of the line does that Deputy fall out on.

         22                 MR. SCHWARTZBAUM: We are trying to

         23  ensure parity with the promotion process with the

         24  Police Department, where third line supervisors take

         25  a test as police captain, and correction deputy
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          2  warden, and their responsibilities are very similar

          3  in that a Police Captain is in charge of

          4  administrative managerial oversights. Like in the

          5  Correction Department the Deputy Warden of

          6  Administration would be in charge of random drug

          7  testing for staff, ensuring the integrity of the

          8  process that they're not notified and it's done, and

          9  just like a Police Captain. And as Anthony said, the

         10  Lieutenant is the operational officer, they're

         11  running that specific tour. So, if we had a test

         12  with Deputy Warden, we would have parity with the

         13  NYPD, as far as promotional opportunity.

         14                 MR. GAVIN: The other big advantage to

         15  that, the simplest thing, the common sense thing

         16  that's plain to see, I'd just like to say is that by

         17  having a test you're keeping in the books. You're

         18  causing men and women to go back to the books, read

         19  the laws, read the correction laws, read the

         20  criminal procedure law, read the rules and

         21  regulations, you know, be made aware through

         22  in-service training of new things that are coming

         23  out in the Correction field as they applied, and now

         24  they're able to apply them as managers, doesn't that

         25  make sense?
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          2                 Ladies and gentlemen, in the New York

          3  City Fire Department goes right to the Chief of

          4  Department. I mean, let's get real here. There's an

          5  obvious benefit to giving a test. As Richard Koeller

          6  once said, he liked to give a lot of tests. He was

          7  our Correction Commissioner, he was also the Chief

          8  of the NYPD personnel. And the reason he likes to

          9  give a lot of tests and let people by on the list,

         10  is because information is constantly changing. The

         11  laws are changing. So, as the law changes, you have

         12  to educate yourself, and the best way to do that is

         13  by taking a test. It's common sense. But common

         14  sense isn't very common, ladies and gentlemen. Take

         15  it from me, it's really not. We're not asking for a

         16  lot here. We just want to be on parity with the

         17  Police Department. Ideally I'd like to see it go to

         18  Warden, but I know that's a dream.

         19                 Just a couple more things. Ms.

         20  Clarke, I think you're very brilliant in your line

         21  of questioning, and I just want to talk about the

         22  integrity of the process, to use your words

         23  "integrity of the process," the promotional

         24  process. Now, Commissioner Horn, I think he's a

         25  wonderful man, a man of high integrity, better than
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          2  Frasier and Kerik for sure, but what I want to say

          3  is, you talk about the integrity of the process, the

          4  Chief of Department reviews the candidates. The

          5  Chief of the Department is Robert Daverin

          6  (phonetic). Robert Daverin was Tony Serra's boss,

          7  okay? It begs the question, where is the

          8  accountability? I've got to go there, you know. I've

          9  got to speak my mind. Where is the accountability?

         10                 Mr. Monserrate said earlier, what

         11  about minorities getting promoted? Did you know that

         12  in 1991 I took the Warden Level 1 test, and the

         13  highest score on the test was an Hispanic male, his

         14  name was Gilberto Rivera. He scored a 95. Do you

         15  know he's still a Deputy Warden? Do you know that

         16  some of the people that sit on this promotional

         17  review board, some of them never even served as tour

         18  commanders, they were promoted on probation from

         19  Assistant Deputy Warden, Warden Level 1, right to

         20  Deputy Warden. Mr. Vengersky didn't tell you that.

         21  He talked about institutionalizing the directive,

         22  and that the Commissioner, it's very difficult to

         23  deinstitutionalize, if you will. Commissioner

         24  Frazier did whatever he wanted, okay? They retained

         25  his Chief of Staff, Dala Harrison was retained by
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          2  Commissioner Horn up until recently, it was

          3  discovered there was some incident regarding

          4  snowblowers. Come on, let's get real here. Let's

          5  take off the gloves, let's examine the real issues.

          6  I've examined them. I've put my life at risk for

          7  this City by putting this out there, by having Sarah

          8  Wallace do all this. I fear no one, ladies and

          9  gentlemen. And I said it at the last time I

         10  testified, all of Mayor Bloomberg's money can't

         11  silence me. And I'm going to be on the issues, I'm a

         12  City resident now, and I'm going to be looking at

         13  these things.

         14                 I'm also going to be looking at the

         15  Alan Jennings' issue, you know, how this sexual

         16  harassment went on. You know, this has got to stop.

         17  People in government have to be accountable, and

         18  I'll leave you with one more thing.

         19                 Do you know that in the process when

         20  I was trying to bring this corruption to light, I

         21  called the Bronx District Attorney. Do you know he

         22  didn't take my call? A guy like me, emergency

         23  management, Deputy Warden, gave him the whole case,

         24  he would not speak to me, but he spoke to Eric

         25  Adams. Why would he speak to Eric Adams and not
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          2  Eddie Gavin? Let me finish. The US Attorney James

          3  Comie, he's now number two in the Justice

          4  Department, he is in charge of the New York Office.

          5  When I called him he wouldn't take my call. Why not?

          6                 Rose Gil Hearn, the Investigations

          7  Commissioner, called her, she didn't take my call. I

          8  don't want to deal with subordinates. When I make a

          9  phone call as a taxpayer, I want somebody to come to

         10  the phone. And if the person doesn't come to the

         11  phone, be man enough or woman enough to tell me I'm

         12  not coming to the phone. Don't play me, play Lotto

         13  is what I tell them. They got a better chance. But

         14  I'm going to be at the forefront of this. I'm not

         15  going to stop. And I want you to know, I'm in the

         16  midst of unveiling another corruption scandal in the

         17  Department, and it's coming. And I'm not going to be

         18  going to the public, I'm not going to the

         19  Commissioner of Investigation, I'm not going to the

         20  Police Department, I'm going right to the press. And

         21  you're going to see another story equivalent to what

         22  you've already seen, and that's all I'm going to

         23  say.

         24                 But I caution you, as members of the

         25  City Council, you're duty-bound to really take a
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          2  hard look at this, with all the members -- I will

          3  say this: The only person that did speak to me, in

          4  all the government officials, was Mr. Goia, Eric

          5  Gioia. He spoke to me. And I commend him for

          6  speaking to me. He came to the phone. That's what

          7  you're supposed to do. When you get a paycheck from

          8  our great City, from our taxpayers, and the taxpayer

          9  calls you, you come to the phone. You know, don't

         10  treat me different than Eric Adams, because he's the

         11  President of 100 Blacks in Law Enforcement. I'm the

         12  President of one white guy in law enforcement, big

         13  deal. I'm a taxpayer, let's be responsible and let's

         14  talk to our citizens, when competent issues come and

         15  bring issues to the forefront. Really, it's the

         16  right thing to do. Let's do it because it's the

         17  right thing to do. You know, Robert Johnson should

         18  have taken my call. Rose Gil Hearn should have taken

         19  my call. I put my life on the line after all.

         20  There's not a day that goes by that I walk the

         21  streets that I don't think that there's somebody --

         22  I'm not worried about the ex-inmates who I used to

         23  guard, and I've had some real high profile cases,

         24  ladies and gentlemen. I'm more worried about the

         25  people that I reported on. Why do you think Serpico
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          2  moved Upstate?

          3                 Think about it. Every day that I walk

          4  the streets this 32 caliber gun is in my possession,

          5  because I know that I may get whacked. These people

          6  think they're above the law. Believe me when I tell

          7  you, I'm not making this up, and I'm out of the job

          8  two years. I believe in this so strongly, that's why

          9  I'm here today. I got better things to do, trust me,

         10  but I spent 21 years of my life in this job, and I

         11  want to see some change.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: You're welcome. I

         14  know that Council Member Monserrate had --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Thank you

         16  very much, Madam Chair.

         17                 Just to get a little bit more clarity

         18  on the record. As I understand, prior to 1979 there

         19  was a test up to Warden; is that correct?

         20                 MR. SCHWARTZBAUM: Yes. And that would

         21  be the equivalent of police inspector.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: And prior

         23  to 1979 that existed?

         24                 MR. SCHWARTZBAUM: Right.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: And when
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          2  we speak about the term of "parity" again, and I

          3  know that there was consistently both in contractual

          4  talks and other arenas, that there was always a

          5  parity that was attempted to be maintained between

          6  the two agencies, the NYPD and Corrections. In fact,

          7  about ten years ago, maybe a little less, about ten

          8  years ago when the NYPD changed their shirts to dark

          9  blue, Corrections agency within a few months also

         10  did the same.

         11                 MR. SCHWARTZBAUM: Yes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: There has

         13  been a long history of trying to maintain parity. I

         14  find it quite bewildering that there is no

         15  promotional tests for Deputy Warden, and I want to

         16  be very early on the record, Madam Chair, that I

         17  would support that introduction and I would urge the

         18  Speaker and my fellow colleagues in the City Council

         19  to support it.

         20                 I think it makes good sense. I think

         21  it's in keeping with the long history of parity

         22  between the two agencies. In particular, I don't

         23  know what the hesitation would be, especially an

         24  administration that seems to care a lot about

         25  testing, especially in this era of high profile
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          2  testing.

          3                 So, I wanted to say that and I look

          4  forward to hearing from the Administration what

          5  their concerns might or might not be, but I would

          6  have to say that I would urge this Committee and for

          7  this body to move rapidly on this legislation and

          8  enact it.

          9                 Thank you very much, Madam Chair.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you,

         11  Council Member.

         12                 Council Member Gerson.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: One technical

         14  follow-up to understand this issue of parity. In DOC

         15  are there many ranks above Deputy Warden as there

         16  are in NYPD above captain? And should that make a

         17  difference, in terms of the testing of Deputy

         18  Warden?

         19                 MR. SCHWARTZBAUM: Well, in NYPD

         20  Captain and Deputy Warden are equivalent in pay. The

         21  only difference is that Deputy Warden is not tested,

         22  then the rank of Warden is equivalent to Deputy

         23  Inspector. Actually the rank of Deputy Warden and

         24  Command is equivalent to Deputy Inspector. Inspector

         25  and Warden carry the same salary, and in PD you have
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          2  an Assistant Chief, we have an Assistant Chief or

          3  Bureau Chief; we have a Chief of the Department,

          4  they have a Chief of the Department. So, for the

          5  most part there is parity, yes, to answer your

          6  question.

          7                 I'd like to just, before I leave, and

          8  this Committee, I'd like you to look at this article

          9  in The Chief, and it talked about in 1994 when these

         10  allegations were first brought to the attention

         11  regarding politicized system, in that the person who

         12  was our watchdog in the agency, Laura Rigby, a

         13  former DA, was investigating this, and she had some

         14  documents in her car, and her car was torched as a

         15  message to her "stay quiet." And she left the agency

         16  and to this day she is scared to death. People were

         17  operating like gangsters with badges, and I don't

         18  exaggerate when I say that. So, I urge you to read

         19  this article. It will give you a little insight into

         20  the politics.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Is that

         22  attached to your testimony?

         23                 MR. SCHWARTZBAUM: No, but I will give

         24  it to you before I leave.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you,
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          2  Madam Chair.

          3                 MR. MIRANDA: And again, and one of

          4  your other questions that you asked, for the

          5  position of Deputy Warden where they're trying to

          6  get a civil service examination, there's a

          7  quantitative knowledge base that they must know so

          8  therefore it's testable, as opposed to discretionary

          9  in all the ranks that they have as advisors. So,

         10  there is a quantitative knowledge base that it's

         11  absolutely testable and that should be the criteria.

         12                 And more toward Commissioner Horn,

         13  while you're all applauding his achievements, we, as

         14  an organization, have recently communicated with him

         15  because above the rank of Deputy Warden, again,

         16  where the have the discretionary still in the rank

         17  of Warden, there has still been a lack of

         18  representation in some Hispanics who have been on

         19  that list forever and have been passed over, such as

         20  Gil Rivera, and another, Officer Rosato, who are

         21  both been Deputy Wardens seems like forever and have

         22  been passed up by the Administration.

         23                 So, we still have problems with the

         24  discretionary process, even above that rank level,

         25  but to support this bill, to say that the rank of
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          2  Deputy Warden should be civil service, is the

          3  beginning process. Again, if it was up to use, we'd

          4  like more than that, but we know they're putting

          5  everything on the same table will probably be a

          6  bigger fight. But this is absolutely achievable,

          7  acceptable by most people, and understandable by

          8  most, especially since it's really a knowledge-based

          9  position which can be tested.

         10                 MR. SCHWARTZBAUM: Let me just

         11  conclude with this. A civil service test doesn't

         12  necessarily mean it has to be 100 questions multiple

         13  choice. In the NYPD Captain's test, has some

         14  multiple choice questions, but then there's essays.

         15  In the rank of Deputy Warden you need to be astute

         16  at formulating investigations, comprehensive orders,

         17  you can have an in-basket test, you can have a

         18  portion which is an oral presentation, but at least

         19  some sort of testing abilities, and as I stated

         20  earlier, just on the emergency manual operation,

         21  manual, they could create a great test on that. In

         22  times of emergency to test people's ability during

         23  riots. We cannot repeat the 1990 riot, which was the

         24  last riot we had in this agency, where we were

         25  embarrassed at the State Commissioner of Correction
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          2  by stating that knowledge and training goes out the

          3  window during emergencies. Since 9/11 you are

          4  clearly aware that during emergencies knowledge and

          5  training must be at the forefront, the leadership.

          6                 And I'd like to take this opportunity

          7  to thank all of yous (sic) for listening to a lot

          8  of, I won't say disgruntled people, but people who

          9  have witnessed firsthand what went wrong with this

         10  agency, and if we didn't learn anything from

         11  history, then we have the opportunity, the golden

         12  opportunity, this Council, to take the necessary

         13  remedial actions to change things for the better,

         14  and I thank you very much.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I think you

         16  closed quite appropriately there, Sid. And I want to

         17  assure you that the Council is looking into a number

         18  of these issues. The question that has been raised

         19  by the Administration has a lot to do with

         20  jurisdiction, and we're working through those

         21  pieces. But let me just make it clear that every

         22  since this issue has been brought to me, I've heard

         23  every excuse under the sun as to why in fact this

         24  could not be done.

         25                 But I think it's crystal clear that
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          2  this is something that needs to be done, that

          3  ultimately will be done.

          4                 It's, I believe, just a matter of

          5  time in making sure that we proceed in a way in

          6  which there is no challenge to the authority of

          7  putting this legislation in place.

          8                 There is no way that a position so

          9  critical as the Deputy Warden should be left to the

         10  discretion, and while I believe there is a place for

         11  broadbanding, I don't get a sense that this is the

         12  arena in which it's best applied.

         13                 So, I want to thank you for your

         14  testimony.

         15                 MR. SCHWARTZBAUM: Ms. Clarke, I'd

         16  like to say one thing. Even with the testing, there

         17  still is discretion, the one in three rule. Now, if

         18  there's somebody who is great on taking a test but

         19  their prior character precludes them from getting

         20  promoted --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Well, I think the

         22  testing provides a number of different things. First

         23  of all, it will change the mindset of individuals

         24  within the agency, and I think that is what we are

         25  dealing with here, and, you know, everything else
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          2  will follow.

          3                 So, having said that, we are on one

          4  accord. I think it's very clear to this Committee,

          5  understanding what the challenges have been, and a

          6  disgrace within the Corrections Department is not

          7  only a reflection on those in the Corrections

          8  Department, it becomes a reflection on all of us in

          9  the public arena, including Council members who did

         10  not take the appropriate action once brought to

         11  life, to make sure that it doesn't reoccur.

         12                 So, I just wanted to put that out

         13  there.

         14                 MR. SCHWARTZBAUM: Thank you very

         15  much.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you very

         17  much.

         18                 MR. SCHWARTZBAUM: Thank you all.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: This meeting is

         20  adjourned.

         21                 (Hearing concluded at 12:10 p.m.)

         22
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